2006

Joseph R. Fox Linda A. v. Brigham Young University, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2 (3) (g) and (j). This appeal is subject to assignment to the Utah Court of Appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4). Accordingly, this appeal was assigned to the Utah Court of Appeal from the Utah Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

First Issue (Causation)

Whether the trial court erred in its findings on causation that:

(A) "The only facts concerning causation or the mechanism of injury in the instant case that may be ascertained by the ordinary use of the senses by a lay witness are that Linda Fox was descending the stairs and she fell.

(B) No lay witness can, by the ordinary use of the lay witness's senses, testify whether the fall of Linda Fox was or was not caused by the symptomatic medical condition of Linda Fox's knee." (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Record 918, 916, ¶10.)

(C) "Linda Fox fell without the physical intervention of any actor." (Findings of Fact, Record 916, ¶11)

(D) "No person inspected the stairs after Linda Fox's alleged fall to determine the condition of the stair Linda Fox was on when she allegedly fell." (Findings of Fact, Record 915, ¶13)

(E) "Plaintiffs do not know which stair Linda Fox was on when she allegedly fell." (Findings of Fact, Record 915, ¶14)

Standard of Review

The trial court's ruling was in the context of the defendant's motion to exclude expert testimony regarding causation during which the plaintiffs stipulated that they would not call any expert witnesses. The trial court concluded that due to Linda's pre-

existing arthritic condition in her knee, the plaintiffs could not, as a matter of law, sustain their cause of action without calling expert witnesses to prove causation. The trial court held that its decision was dispositive of the case and granted defendant's oral motion to dismiss, presumably under Rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (Transcript, Record 924, 63-67)

We review a trial court's findings of fact according to the standard set out in Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a), which provides: "Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." *Id.*; see also *Orton*, 970 P.2d at 1256-57; *Consolidation Coal Co. v. Div. of State Lands & Forestry*, 886 P.2d 514, 522 (Utah 1994); *Reid v. Mut. of Omaha Ins. Co.*, 776 P.2d 896, 899 (Utah 1989). "A trial court's factual finding is deemed 'clearly erroneous' only if it is against the clear weight of the evidence." *Doelle v. Bradley*, 784 P.2d 1176, 1178 (Utah 1989); see also *Willard Pease Oil & Gas Co. v. Pioneer Oil & Gas Co.*, 899 P.2d 766, 773 (Utah 1995); *Reid*, 776 P.2d at 899-900. *Wilson Supply, Inc. v. Fradan Manufacturing Corp.*, 54 P.3d 1177, 2002 UT 94, ¶12.

In the context of a bench trial, the directed verdict's procedural counterpart is a motion to dismiss pursuant to rule 41(b). See Utah R. Civ. P. 41(b); see also *Grossen*, 1999 UT App 167 at ¶8. [U] *Chryst v. Braun*, 2005 UT App 470 (Utah App. 11/03/2005)

Under rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the court may dismiss if "(1) the claimant has failed to introduce sufficient evidence to establish a prima facie

case, or (2) the trial court is not persuaded by that evidence." *Walker v. Union Pac. R.R.*, 844 P.2d 335, 340 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). "As with a directed verdict, whether dismissal was appropriate for failure to make a prima facie case is a question of law reviewed for correctness." *Grossen*, 1999 UT App 167 at ¶8 (citation omitted). [U] *Chryst v. Braun*, 2005 UT App 470 (Utah App. 11/03/2005)

When reviewing the grant of a directed verdict, the appellate court reviews the decision of the trial court for correctness. For a directed verdict to be appropriate, the evidence must be such that reasonable minds could not differ on the facts based on the evidence presented at trial. *Mgmt. Comm. of Graystone Pines Homeowners Ass'n v. Graystone Pines, Inc.*, 652 P.2d 896, 897-98 (Utah 1982). We examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and if that evidence and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom would support a judgment in favor of the losing party, we must reverse. *Id.* If evidence raises a "question of material fact," it is reversible error for a trial court to grant a motion for directed verdict. See *Mahmood v. Ross*, 1999 UT 104, ¶ 16, 990 P.2d 933. *Goebel v. Salt Lake City Southern Railroad Co.*, 104 P.3d 1185, 2004 UT 80, ¶ 10 (Utah 10/01/2004).

The question of proximate causation "is generally reserved for the jury." *Steffensen*, 820 P.2d at 486 (citing *Godesky v. Provo City Corp.*, 690 P.2d 541, 544 (Utah 1984)). Consequently, the trial court may rule as a matter of law on this issue only if: "(1) there is no evidence to establish a causal connection, thus leaving causation to jury speculation, or (2) where reasonable persons could not differ on the inferences to be derived from the evidence on proximate causation." *Steffensen*, 820 P.2d at 487

(citing *Robertson v. Sixpence Inns of Am., Inc.*, 163 Ariz. 539, 789 P.2d 1040, 1047 (Ariz. 1990) (en banc). Two standards of review exist for reviewing questions regarding the admissibility of evidence. See *Utah Dep't of Transp. v. 6200 South Assocs.*, 872 P.2d 462, 465 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). "With respect to the trial court's selection, interpretation, and application of a particular rule of evidence [or procedure], we apply a correction of error standard. When the rule . . . requires the trial court to balance specified factors to determine admissibility, 'abuse of discretion or reasonability is the appropriate standard.'" *Id.* (citation omitted); see also *Stevensen v. Goodson*, 924 P.2d 339, 347 (Utah 1996) (stating trial court "is allowed considerable . . . discretion in the admissibility of expert testimony, and in the absence of a clear showing of abuse, this court will not reverse"). However, "even where error is found, reversal is appropriate only in those cases where, after review of all of the evidence presented at trial, it appears that 'absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood that a different result would have been reached.'" *Utah Dep't of Transp.*, 872 P.2d at 465 (citation omitted). Moreover, the person asserting error has the burden to show not only that the error occurred but also that it was substantial and prejudicial. See *Ashton v. Ashton*, 733 P.2d 147, 154 (Utah 1987), as cited in *Stevenett v. Wal-Mart Stores Inc.*, 977 P.2d 508, 511 (Utah 1999).

Issue Preserved in Trial Court

The issues relating to causation were preserved in the trial court in the Affidavit of Linda A. Fox (Record, commencing on page 083); in the Affidavit of Joseph R. Fox (Record, commencing on page 075); in the Affidavit of Linda A. Fox (Record,

commencing on page 467); in Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (Record, commencing on page 337); in Plaintiffs' Response to Defendant's Motion in Limine (Record pp. 883-874), and in the Bench Trial Transcript (Record p. 924, at transcript pages 13 - 24).

Second Issue (Conclusions of Law)

Whether the trial court erred in concluding that:

(A) "...the Plaintiffs had no witness who could testify as to the condition of the stairs and had no witness who could testify as to whether or not the stairs were dangerous..." (Conclusions of Law, Record p. 915, ¶ 1)

(B) "The Plaintiffs' determination that they would call no expert witnesses on any subject, including but not limited to: a. Causation/mechanism of injury; and b. Linda Fox's medical condition before and after her alleged fall on April 29, 2004; precluded evidence that Linda Fox's fall was not caused by her symptomatic, pre-existing, osteoarthritic, joint narrowing, knee which had loss of cartilage." (Conclusions of Law, Record p. 915, ¶2)

(C) "In the absence of any expert witness who could opine as to whether Mrs. Fox fell because of her symptomatic, pre-existing condition as described above or for some other cause, the Plaintiffs cannot sustain their burden of proof as to causation." (Conclusions of Law, Record p. 914, ¶4)

(D) "In the absence of any healthcare provider who could opine as to the reasonable necessity of any healthcare received by the Plaintiff Linda Fox, the Plaintiffs

cannot sustain their burden of proof as to damages." (Conclusions of Law, Record p. 914, ¶5)

(E) "Joseph R. Fox's claim is for loss of consortium. Because Linda A. Fox cannot sustain her burden of proof as to causation nor as to damages, the Plaintiff Joseph R. Fox's claim for loss of consortium fails." (Conclusions of Law, Record p. 914, ¶6.)

Standard for Review

Generally, we review a trial court's legal conclusions for correctness, according the trial court no particular deference." Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); see also Newspaper Agency Corp. v. Auditing Div. of State Tax Comm'n, 938 P.2d 266, 267 (Utah 1997). Wilson Supply, Inc. v. Fradan Manufacturing Corp., 54 P.3d 1177, 2002 UT 94, ¶11.

Issues Preserved in Trial Court

The issues relating to the court's conclusions were preserved in the trial court in the Affidavit of Linda A. Fox (Record, commencing on page 083); in the Affidavit of Joseph R. Fox (Record, commencing on page 075); in the Affidavit of Linda A. Fox (Record, commencing on page 467); Plaintiffs' Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (Record, commencing on page 337); Plaintiffs' Response to Defendant's Motion in Limine (Record pp. 883-874), and in the Bench Trial Transcript (Record p. 924, at transcript pages 13 – 24 and 63-67).

The issues relating to the court's conclusions on medical damages were preserved in the trial court in Plaintiffs' Response to Defendant's Motion in Limine

(Record pp. 883-874) and in the Bench Trial Transcript (Record p. 924, at transcript pages 16, 27 and 63-67).

Third Issue (Validity of UCA §78-27-33, as amended)

Whether the trial court was correct in holding that UCA §78-27-33, as amended, was impliedly repealed and was unconstitutional on its face as being inconsistent with Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 801(2) and Rule 803(4).

Standard of Review

This issue was raised for the first time in the defendant's oral argument in support of its Motion in Limine. Whether a statute is constitutional is a question of law, which the court of appeal reviews for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court. *Grand County v. Emery County*, 2002 UT 57, ¶ 6, 52 P.3d 1148 (quoting *State v. Daniels*, 2002 UT 2, ¶ 30, 40 P.3d 611). Furthermore, the reviewing court presumes the legislation being challenged is constitutional, and resolves any reasonable doubts in favor of constitutionality. *Id.*; see also *Utah Sch. Bds. Ass'n v. State Bd. of Educ.*, 2001 UT 2, ¶ 9, 17 P.3d 1125.

We review questions of statutory interpretation for correctness, giving no deference to the district court's interpretation. *Parks v. Utah Transit Auth.*, 2002 UT 55, ¶ 4, 53 P.3d 473. Our aim in construing a statute is to give effect to the legislature's intent in light of the purpose the statute was meant to achieve. *In re Marriage of Gonzalez*, 2000 UT 28, ¶ 23, 1 P.3d 1074, *Bd. of Ed. of Jordan Sch. Dist.*, *supra*, ¶ 8.

Pursuant to our rules of statutory construction, we look first to the statute's plain

language to determine its meaning. . "We read the plain language of the statute as a whole, and interpret its provisions in harmony with other statutes in the same chapter and related chapters." *Miller v. Weaver*, 2003 UT 12, ¶ 17, 66 P.3d 592; see also *Perrine v. Kennecott Mining Corp.*, 911 P.2d 1290, 1292 (Utah 1996) ("[S]tatutory enactments are to be so construed as to render all parts thereof relevant and meaningful." (citation and quotation omitted)); *Bus. Aviation of S.D., Inc. v. Medivest, Inc.*, 882 P.2d 662, 665 (Utah 1994) ("[T]erms of a statute are to be interpreted as a comprehensive whole and not in a piecemeal fashion." (citation and quotation omitted)); *Jerz v. Salt Lake County*, 822 P.2d 770, 773 (Utah 1991) ("It is our duty to construe each act of the legislature so as to give it full force and effect. When a construction of an act will bring it into serious conflict with another act, our duty is to construe the acts to be in harmony and avoid conflicts."). In addition, "[i]t is axiomatic that a statute should be given a reasonable and sensible construction and that the legislature did not intend an absurd or unreasonable result." *State ex rel. Div. of Consumer Prot. v. GAF Corp.*, 760 P.2d 310, 313 (Utah 1988), *Id.* ¶ 9.

Issue Preserved in Trial Court

The issues relating to the constitutionality and implied repeal of UCA §78-27-33, as amended, were preserved in the trial court as recorded in the Bench Trial Transcript (Record p. 924, at bench trial transcript pages 56 - 63).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES, AND
REGULATIONS

Article 8, Section 4, Constitution of Utah, provides in pertinent part: The Supreme Court shall adopt rules of procedure and evidence to be used in the courts of the state and shall by rule manage the appellate process. The Legislature may amend the Rules of Procedure and Evidence adopted by the Supreme Court upon a vote of two-thirds of all members of both houses of the Legislature.

Utah Code Annotated 78-37-33, provides: Except as otherwise provided in this act, any statement, either written or oral, obtained from an injured person within 15 days of an occurrence or while this person is confined in a hospital or sanitarium as a result of injuries sustained in the occurrence, and which statement is obtained by a person whose interest is adverse or may become adverse to the injured person, except a peace officer, shall not be admissible as evidence in any civil proceeding brought by or against the injured person for damages sustained as a result of the occurrence, unless: (1) a written verbatim copy of the statement has been left with the injured party at the time the statement was taken; and (2) the statement has not been disavowed in writing within fifteen days of the date of the statement or within fifteen days after the date of the injured person's initial discharge from the hospital or sanitarium in which the person has been confined, whichever date is later. Amended by Chapter 282, 1998 General Session. (The amendment changed the language from "law enforcement officer" to "peace officer".)

Utah Code Annotated 78-37-36, provides: Right of rescission or disavowal of release, settlement, or statement by injured person in addition to other provisions. The rights provided by this act are intended to be in addition to, and not in lieu of, any rights of rescission, rules of evidence, or provisions otherwise existing in the law.

Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 801(d)(2) provides in part: The statement is offered against a party and is (A) the party's own statement, in either an individual or a representative capacity, or (B) a statement of which the party has manifested an adoption or belief in its truth.

Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 803(4), states in pertinent part: The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule, even though the declarant is available as a witness:

(4) Statements for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment. Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 701, provides: If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the witness and (b) helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue.

Utah Supreme Court Pro Curium Order, September 10, 1985, In Re: Rules of Procedure and Evidence To Be Used in the Courts of This State, provides in part:

"Pursuant to the provisions of Article 8, Section 4, the Constitution of Utah, as amended, the Court adopts all existing statutory Rules of Procedure and Evidence not inconsistent or superseded by the rules of Procedure and Evidence heretofore adopted by this court. Effective as of July 1985."

The Preliminary Note to the Utah Court Rules states, in part: Any existing statutes inconsistent with these rules... will be impliedly repealed.

Rule 41(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides: Involuntary dismissal; effect thereof. After the plaintiff, in an action tried by the court without a jury, has completed the presentation of his evidence the defendant, without waiving his right to offer evidence in the event the motion is not granted, may move for a dismissal on the ground that upon the facts and the law the plaintiff has shown no right to relief. The court as trier of the facts may then determine them and render judgment against the plaintiff or may decline to render any judgment until the close of all the evidence. If the court renders judgment on the merits against the plaintiff, the court shall make findings as provided iRule 52(a). Unless the court in its order for dismissal otherwise specifies, a dismissal under this subdivision and any dismissal not provided for in this rule, other than a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction or for improper venue or for lack of an indispensable party, operates as an adjudication upon the merits.

Nature of the Case

This is a pro se, negligence based, personal injury case for which the Plaintiff Linda Fox seeks money damages for, inter alia, medical expenses, lost income,

disfigurement, and change of life style, and for which the Plaintiff Joseph Fox seeks money damages for lost consortium. A defective step on the west stairway of the Harman Building on the campus of BYU caused the Plaintiff Linda Fox to fall and break her leg below the knee as she was exiting the Harman Building after she purchased a ticket to Women's Conference 2004. Specifically, the cause of Linda's fall was a worn out, loose metal nosing on the steps. The Defendant had notice of the defective step nosing and failed to give notice to the Plaintiff and failed exercise reasonable care in repairing the step. At the time of her fall, the Plaintiff Linda Fox suffered from a slightly symptomatic arthritic condition in her knee. There is no expert testimony that her pre-existing condition was a material factor in her fall. (Record p. 037; Second Amended Complaint).

Course of Proceedings

This case proceeded to a scheduled bench trial before the Fourth District Court, Utah County, Provo District. Prior to taking evidence, the trial court heard oral arguments on the defendant's motion to exclude any expert testimony that might be offered by the plaintiffs concerning causation and damages. Neither the plaintiffs nor the defendant had identified any expert witnesses as required by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The plaintiffs stipulated that they did not intend to call any expert witnesses. (Record p. 924; Bench Trial Transcript pp. 2-4 and 13-14).

Also, during oral argument, the defendant, for the first time, raised the issue of the constitutionality of UCA 78-27-33, as amended, in regard to the admission into evidence of certain statements reportedly made by Linda Fox to the defendant's EMTs at the scene of her fall. The plaintiffs denied having made the statements and opposed the admission of evidence of the statements because the foundational provisions of the statute had not been satisfied by the defendant. There was no dispute that the defendant had not complied with the statute. The court heard arguments from both parties. (Record p. 924; Bench Trial Transcript pp. 44-63)

Trial Court Disposition

After hearing oral arguments, the court ruled that the statute, UCA 78-27-33, as amended, was unconstitutional and that it had been impliedly repealed by order of the Supreme Court, and, therefore, it would admit the EMTs' evidence of Linda's statements. There was no other evidence of Linda's statements. (Record 924; Bench Trial Transcript pp. 63-64).

With regard to the defendant's motion to exclude expert testimony, and the plaintiffs' stipulation in this regard, the court concluded that the plaintiffs could not, as a matter of law, in view of Linda's arthritic condition in her knee, sustain their prima facie burden of proof concerning causation without presenting expert testimony that her pre-existing condition was not a material factor in her fall. (Apart from the fact that she had the condition and her disputed statement, as reported by the EMTs, that as she was descending the stairs her foot came out from underneath her, there was no other

evidence that her condition was a material factor in her fall.) Further, the court ruled that Linda could not sustain her burden of proof on medical expense damages, even though she had paid for the services, without expert testimony as to the necessity and reasonableness the treatment she received. The court held that its decision in this regard was dispositive of the issues on causation and damages. Accordingly, the court granted the defendant's oral motion to dismiss under Rule 41(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (Record p. 924; Bench Trial Transcript pp. 63-68.)

Statement of Facts

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