2006

Joseph Fox and Linda Fox v. Brigham Young University, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This issue was preserved in the trial court.

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION, STATUTE AND RULE
WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE**

The constitutional provision, statute and rule whose interpretation may be determinative of this appeal is set forth below. They are determinative only of the Third Issue presented by Mr. and Mrs. Fox.

**A. Article VIII, Section 4. [Rulemaking power of Supreme Court
– Judges pro tempore – Regulation of practice of law.]**

The Supreme Court shall adopt rules of procedure and evidence to be used in the courts of the state and shall by rule manage the appellate process. The Legislature may amend the Rules of Procedure and Evidence adopted by the Supreme Court upon a vote of two-thirds of all members of both houses of the Legislature. Except as otherwise provided by the constitution, the Supreme Court by rule may authorize retired justices and judges and judges pro tempore to perform any judicial duties. Judges pro tempore shall be citizens of the United States, Utah residents, and admitted to practice law in Utah. The Supreme Court by rule shall govern the practice of law, including admission to practice law and the conduct and discipline of persons admitted to practice law.

B. 78-27-33. Statement of injured person – When inadmissible as evidence.

Except as otherwise provided in this act, any statement, either written or oral, obtained from an injured person within 15 days of an occurrence or while this person is confined in a hospital or sanitarium as a result of injuries sustained

in the occurrence, and which statement is obtained by a person whose interest is adverse or may become adverse to the injured person, except a peace officer, shall not be admissible as evidence in any civil proceeding brought by or against the injured person for damages sustained as a result of the occurrence, unless:

(1) a written verbatim copy of the statement has been left with the injured party at the time the statement was taken; and

(2) the statement has not been disavowed in writing within fifteen days of the date of the statement or within fifteen days after the date of the injured person's initial discharge from the hospital or sanitarium in which the person has been confined, whichever date is later.

Utah Court Rules

C. Preliminary Note

On October 7, 1977, at the request of the Utah Supreme Court, the Utah State Bar Commission established a special committee to examine whether the Federal Rules of Evidence should be adopted by practice before the courts of the State of Utah. The committee was composed of Parker M. Nielson, Chairman, the Honorable D. Frank Wilkins, the Honorable Ronald O. Hyde, the Honorable George E. Ballif, Professor Ronald N. Boyce, Professor Edward L. Kimball, Ramon M. Child and Stephen B. Nebeker. Ronald J. Yengich and Virginius Dabney were subsequently added to the committee.

The Committee met pursuant to the foregoing appointment, and recommended adoption of the Federal Rules of Evidence by the Superior Court pursuant to the general judicial powers contained in the Constitution of the United States. Article VIII, Section 1 to supervise inferior courts, and pursuant to the statutory rulemaking power of the Supreme Court contained in Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-2-4 (1953). It was the view of the Committee that, while the legislature may not enlarge judicial powers beyond those prescribed by the Constitution of Utah, *Robinson v. Durand*, 36 Utah 93, 104 Pac. 760 (1908), the power to promulgate rules is within the general judicial powers conferred by Article VIII, Section 1. Any existing statutes inconsistent with these rules, if and when these rules are adopted by the Supreme Court, will be impliedly repealed.

The effort in proposing these rules, as with the Federal Rules of Evidence on which they are based, is not to codify the law of evidence, but to formulate guides from which the law of evidence can grow and develop. These rules therefore

supply a fresh starting place for the law of evidence and do not present an ultimate end.

The numbering and test of these rules conform to the Federal Rules of Evidence as promulgated by the Congress of the United States, effective July 1, 1975; except (1) where modifications of the text were made necessary by the fact that these rules govern state rather than federal proceedings and (2) in a small number of instances in which the rule adopted was considered sufficiently superior to the federal rule to justify departure from the objective of uniformity between Utah and federal rules. Where such modifications have been necessary, numbering consistent with the Federal Rules has been maintained. Unless modified, reference to the notes of the Advisory Committee to the Federal Rules of Evidence is pertinent to the meaning and effect of these rules, together with notes of the Advisory Committee to these rules.

“The issue of ‘whether a statute is constitutional’ is a question of law, which we review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court.” *State v. Daniels*, 2002 UT 2, p. 30, 40 P.3d 611; *see also State v. Kell*, 2002 UT 19, p. 50, P.3d 1019; *Grand County v. Emery County*, 969 P.2d 421, 422 (Utah 1998). Furthermore, to the extent we are making a determination of a statute’s constitutionality, the “statute is presumed constitutional, and we resolve any reasonable doubts in favor of constitutionality.” *Utah Sch. Bds. Ass’n v. State Bd. of Educ.*, 2001 UT 2, p. 9, 17 P.3d 1125 (quotation and citation omitted); *see also Daniels*, 2002 UT 2 at p. 30. *Grand County v. Emery County*, 2002 UT 57; 52 P.3d 1148 (Utah 2002).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. Mr. and Mrs. Fox allege that Mrs. Fox was injured on April 20, 2004, when she fell on the west stairs at the northerly end of the Harmon Conference Center (hereunder “the stairs”) as she descended the stairs. (R. 917, ¶1, *see also* R. 740 & 739, ¶8). Mrs. Fox sought recovery for special and general damages she allegedly suffered on April 20, 2004.

(R. 37-31). Mr. Fox, a disbarred attorney (R. 782, ¶5 and R. 776 “Order”), sought to recover for loss of consortium (R. 32 and 31, ¶31). BYU denied it was liable to either Mr. or Mrs. Fox. (R. 171-169).

Disposition in Court Below. On December 12, 2006, the Court below entered a “Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice” (R. 921-919). The Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice was based upon Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered December 12, 2006 (R. 913-912). In general terms, the Judgment of Dismissal with Prejudice and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law determined that because: the Plaintiffs stipulated they would try this case without any expert witness of any kind on any subject; Mrs. Fox had a symptomatic, pre-existing, osteoarthritic, joint narrowing knee; and that there would be no testimony that anyone had inspected the stairs after Mrs. Fox’s alleged fall to determine the condition of the stair Mrs. Fox was on when she allegedly fell; that the Plaintiffs could not sustain their burden of proof as to causation nor as to damages. Because Mrs. Fox’s claim failed, Mr. Fox’s claim for loss of consortium also failed (R. 913-912). On December 12, 2006, the Court also entered an Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Objections to the Testimony of Noah Converse and Scott Starr, with Accompanying Exhibits. Mr. and Mrs. Fox’s objection was based upon Utah Code Ann. §78-27-33, a statutory rule of evidence which, under certain conditions, if enforceable, would make statements of an injured person inadmissible as evidence in a civil proceeding (R. 911-906).

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Mr. and Mrs. Fox allege that Mrs. Fox was injured on April 20, 2004, when she fell on the west stairs at the northerly end of the Harmon Conference Center (hereinafter “the stairs”) as she descended the stairs (R. 917, ¶1; *see also* R. 740 & 739, ¶8). Mrs. Fox does not know the exact location where she fell. (R. 316, ¶21). During oral arguments Mr. Fox conceded that he did not know exactly where Mrs. Fox had fallen either (R. 924, p.19, lines 8 & 9).

While Mrs. Fox was being attended to by the emergency medical services (EMS) personnel on the stairs, Mrs. Fox reported to them:

(A) there was no cartilage in her knee due to arthritis;

(B) her knee went out as she was going down the stairs;

(C) she fell down only one stair;

(D) her knee just went out on her as she was going down the stairs and she did not hold BYU responsible; and

(E) that the stairs where she fell are too narrow and have always been dangerous. (R. 739, ¶11).

The emergency medical services personnel did not observe any loose metal nosings on the stairway where Mrs. Fox fell on April 20, 2004. (R. 738, ¶15). Where Mrs. Fox fell is consistent with a knee that gave out and inconsistent with someone who tripped and fell. (R. 738, ¶17). While being treated by the emergency medical services personnel, Mrs. Fox self reported as part of her past medical history that she had arthritis in her right knee (the leg that was injured) and she further self reported that her knee just went out on her as she was going down the stairs. (R. 737, ¶20). Mrs. Fox was transported in a van supplied by BYU to the Utah Valley Regional

Medical Center by the emergency medical services personnel. (R. 737, ¶19). Upon arrival at the Utah Valley Regional Medical Center, Mrs. Fox and her son noted that on April 19, 2004, they were talking and had expressed surprise that Mrs. Fox had not had a serious problem or injury with her knee. (R. 737, ¶19). Approximately one year prior to her fall, Mrs. Fox had been examined by Dr. Jackson for pain in her right knee. (R. 755, ¶2). Dr. Jackson reported that Mrs. Fox had arthritis in the knee and was missing some cartilage. (R. 755, ¶2). Dr. Jackson reported that Mrs. Fox, at some time in the future, would probably have to have her knee replaced but that she should put off the replacement as long as possible. (R. 755, ¶2).

After arriving at Utah Valley Regional Medical Center, Mrs. Fox reported to Dr. Douglas C. Murdock that at BYU while going down stairs, her right knee suddenly gave out and she collapsed down to the ground falling down some steps. She landed on that same knee and had a lot of discomfort and pain in that localized region. (R. 751, under “History of Present Illness”). That same day and while still at the Utah Valley Regional Medical Center, Mrs. Fox reported to Dr. Jonathan R. Faux that while on the stairs at BYU, her knee gave out from underneath her in a varus type deformity and further reported that she had pain in the knee mostly on the lateral side prior to this and had a diagnosis of osteoarthritis and had joint space narrowing. (R. 747, under “History of Present Illness”). In April, 2004, Mrs. Fox’s Admission Diagnosis, and Discharge Diagnosis, were: (1) right tibial plateau fracture; and (2) lateral compartment knee degenerative joint disease. (R. 744, under both Admission Diagnosis and Discharge Diagnosis).

At the Utah Valley Regional Medical Center, Mrs. Fox had surgery on her leg and had a fixator installed. (R. 924, p. 15, lines 20-22). Mrs. Fox is not qualified to say what was done to

her other than to say that a fixator was installed on her leg. (R. 924, p. 15, lines 23-25 and p. 16, line 1).

Course of Proceedings. This matter was scheduled for a bench trial on November 14, 2006. The Plaintiffs stipulated they would try this case without any expert witness of any kind on any subject, including but not limited to: (a) causation/mechanism of injury; and (b) Mrs. Fox's medical condition before and after her alleged fall on April 20, 2004. (R. 917, ¶2),

Prior to trial, the Defendant had taken the trial testimony of the emergency medical services personnel (Noah Converse) attending Mrs. Fox immediately after she fell. (R. 853-852 and R. 857-856 and R. 924, p. 44, line 12 through p. 47, line 6).

The Plaintiffs objected to the admission of the trial testimony of Mr. Converse, taken before the trial, and the admission of the emergency medical services reports that would recite the statements of Mrs. Fox made on the stairs to the emergency medical services personnel on April 20, 2004, the substance of which are set forth above and come from R. 739, ¶11, a-e, R. 738, ¶15 & 17, and R. 737, ¶19 & 20. The Plaintiffs sought to exclude that evidence based upon a foundational objection claiming that under §78-27-33 an injured person's statement cannot be admitted into evidence unless a written verbatim copy of the statement had been left with the injured party at the time the statement was taken; and the statement had not been disavowed in writing within 15 days of the date of the statement or within 15 days after the date of the injured person's initial discharge from the hospital or sanitarium in which the person has been confined, whichever date is later. (R. 924, p. 46, lines 19-25 and p. 47, lines 1-13).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

First Issue (Causation) and Second Issue (Conclusions of Law)

Mr. and Mrs. Fox have failed to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's findings as required by *Scharf, supra*. Mr. and Mrs. Fox have also failed to preserve this issue in the trial court as required by Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 24(a)(5)(A).

The causal relationship between an injury and the subsequent need for surgery is an issue requiring expert medical testimony. A plaintiff alleging such a causal relationship bears the burden of proving proximate cause and can only do so by presenting expert medical testimony establishing the probability of such a connection. Mr. and Mrs. Fox stipulated that there would be no such testimony. Furthermore, no one inspected the stairs after Mrs. Fox's alleged fall and Mrs. Fox does not know which stair she was on when she fell. Therefore, Mrs. Fox could not testify as to what the negligent condition of the stair was upon which she fell. Further, there was no expert to testify whether the condition of Mrs. Fox's knee or the condition of the stair was the proximate cause of Mrs. Fox's fall.

Third Issue (Validity of Utah Code Ann., 78-27-33, as amended)

Mr. and Mrs. Fox objected to testimony of the emergency medical services personnel who attended her on the stairs on April 20, 2004. Mr. and Mrs. Fox's objection was based upon Utah Code Ann., §78-27-33, a statutory rule of evidence which, under certain conditions, if enforceable, would make statements of an injured person inadmissible as evidence in a civil proceeding. Mr. and Mrs. Fox allege that the conditions set forth in the statute apply. For the purpose of the trial court's order, the court assumed that the conditions set forth in the statute

existed. The trial court denied Mr. and Mrs. Fox's objection because the statute was unconstitutional pursuant to the Utah State Constitution, Article VIII, Section 4, quoted above, and as interpreted by the Utah Supreme Court in its September 10, 1985, per curiam order filed September 10, 1985, also quoted above, and further augmented by the Preliminary Note to the Utah Court Rules quoted above. This statutory rule of evidence is inconsistent with and is superceded by Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 801(d)(2) and 803(4).

ARGUMENT

First Issue (Causation)

Mr. and Mrs. Fox asked this Court to find that the trial court erred in entering the Findings of Fact, paragraphs 10, 11, 13 and 14. Paragraphs 10, 13 and 14 of the Findings of Fact recite the Court's decision that, although Mrs. Fox was descending the stairs and fell, that no one inspected the stairs where Mrs. Fox fell to determine the condition of the stair on which she fell. The Court further determined that the Plaintiff did not know which stair Mrs. Fox was on when she allegedly fell. Rule 602 of the Utah Rules of Evidence prohibits Mrs. Fox from testifying where she fell and the condition of the stair. It states, in its entirety:

A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter. Evidence to prove personal knowledge may, but need not, consist of the witness' own testimony. This rule is subject to the provisions of Rule 703, relating to opinion testimony by expert witnesses. (Amended effective October 1, 1992).

Because Mrs. Fox does not know where she fell and because she did not have anyone who was able to inspect the stair, she could not testify that the condition of the stair caused her fall. Without knowing the condition of the stair, there could be no finding of fact that the stair

was defective. This is particularly so in light of Mrs. Fox's symptomatic, pre-existing, osteoarthritic, joint narrowing, knee that had loss of cartilage. Without someone to testify how the stair condition could have caused Mrs. Fox to fall, there could be no plausible evidence that a defective stair caused her to fall. Without such a defective stair, there could be no proximate cause.

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